

IT Business Analytics

Software Version: 10.00 Linux operating system

Support Matrix

Document Release Date: July 2016 Software Release Date: May 2015

Legal Notices

Warranty

The only warranties for Hewlett Packard Enterprise products and services are set forth in the express warranty statements accompanying such products and services. Nothing herein should be construed as constituting an additional warranty. Hewlett Packard Enterprise shall not be liable for technical or editorial errors or omissions contained herein.

The information contained herein is subject to change without notice.

Restricted Rights Legend

Confidential computer software. Valid license from Hewlett Packard Enterprise required for possession, use or copying. Consistent with FAR 12.211 and 12.212, Commercial Computer Software, Computer Software Documentation, and Technical Data for Commercial Items are licensed to the U.S. Government under vendor's standard commercial

Copyright Notice

© 2011-2016 Hewlett Packard Enterprise Development LP

Trademark Notices

Adobe™ is a trademark of Adobe Systems Incorporated.

Microsoft® and Windows® are U.S. registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

UNIX® is a registered trademark of The Open Group.

This product includes an interface of the 'zlib' general purpose compression library, which is Copyright @ 1995-2002 Jean-loup Gailly and Mark Adler.

Documentation Updates

The title page of this document contains the following identifying information:

- Software Version number, which indicates the software version.

 Document Release Date, which changes each time the document is updated.

 Software Release Date, which indicates the release date of this version of the software.

To check for recent updates or to verify that you are using the most recent edition of a document, go to: https://www.hpe.com/us/en/support.html .

This site requires that you register for an HP Passport and to sign in. To register for an HP Passport ID, click Register on the HP Software Support site or click Create an Account on the HP Passport login page.

You will also receive updated or new editions if you subscribe to the appropriate product support service. Contact your HPE sales representative for details.

Support

 $\label{thm:linear_properties} \mbox{Visit the HPE Software Support site at: $https://www.hpe.com/us/en/support.html} \ .$

This website provides contact information and details about the products, services, and support that HPE Software offers.

HPE Software online support provides customer self-solve capabilities. It provides a fast and efficient way to access interactive technical support tools needed to manage your business. As a valued support customer, you can benefit by using the support website to:

- Search for knowledge documents of interest Submit and track support cases and enhancement requests Download software patches

- Manage support contracts
 Look up HPE support contacts
 Review information about available services
 Enter into discussions with other software customers
- Research and register for software training

Most of the support areas require that you register as an HPE Passport user and to sign in, Many also require a support contract. To register for an HPE Passport ID, click Register on the HPE Support site or click Create an Account on the HPE Passport login page.

To find more information about access levels, go to: https://softwaresupport.hpe.com/web/s

HPE Software Solutions Now accesses the Solution and Integration Portal website. This site enables you to explore HPE Product Solutions to meet your business needs, includes a full list of Integrations between HPE Products, as well as a listing of ITIL Processes. The URL for this website is https://softwaresupport.hpe.com/.

Contents

Requirements	4
Hardware	5
Operating System	6
Databases	7
Application Servers	8
Web Servers	9
Web Browsers and Plug-ins	10
Standalone Tool	. 12
Compatibility	. 13
Languages	14
Internationalization Variances	16
Virtualization Products	17
Transparent Technology and Virtualization Support	17
IT Business Analytics supports working with VMware HA and vMotion .	17
HPE Vertica and VMWare	18
High-Availability Products	20
Integrations and Coexistence	. 21
Supported Integrations with HPE Products	21
Supported Integrations with Non-HPE Products	22
Coexistence	23
Server / Client Compatibility	. 24
Performance and Sizing	.25
Before Sizing your ITBA Product	25
Configurations and Sizing	26
BOE Server Sizing	28
Performance Benchmark	29
Obsolescence Plans	. 30
Revision History	. 31
Send documentation feedback	

Requirements

Note: In version 10.00, the product name was changed from **HPE IT Executive Scorecard** (XS) to **HPE IT Business Analytics** (ITBA).

This section provides information about the supported hardware and software that you must have to successfully install and run this version of IT Business Analytics.

Hardware

Note: The following requirements apply to both VMWare environments or physical machines.

This version of IT Business Analytics is supported on the following hardware:

Linux

- Required CPU size and architecture, RAM, and disk space: For details, see "Performance and Sizing" on page 25.
- **Required Screen resolution:** For the client machine running the web browser: 1600x900, 1280x1024, 1920x1200 and higher.

The resolutions are applicable on different types of devices such as labtop, PC monitor and larger meeting room monitor.

• Required Network identification (FQDN:) IPv6 or IPv4

Operating System

The following describe the operating system requirements for the IT Business Analytics components:

Server	Installed Applications	Operating System
Business Analytics Server	IT Business Analytics 10.00	Red Hat-Server - 6.6, 6.5-x86_64CentOS-Server-6.5-x86_64
DB Server	Vertica-7.1.1-0.x86_64 Vertica-7.1.2-4.x86_64 Note: ITBA provides one Vertica permanent license. The license does not have a node restriction but has a 1 TB raw data size restriction. To calculate the raw data size, refer to the Vertica Administrator Guide.	 Red Hat-Server - 6.6, 6.5-x86_64 CentOS-Server-6.5-x86_64 Other (refer to Vertica7.1.x supported platform document https://my.vertica.com/docs/7.1.x/PDF/HP_Vertica_7.1.x_Supported_Platforms.pdf)
Optional: SAP® BusinessObjects Enterprise server	SAP® BusinessObjects BI platform 4.1SP2	Red Hat-Server - 6.6, 6.5-x86_64Windows Server 2008 R2 SP1
Optional: SAP Business Objects Xcelsius server	Report tool: Xcelsius Reports Viewer component supports the new SAP® Business Objects Dashboards 4.1SP2bit32 (format: xlf)	Windows Server 2008 R2 SP1

Databases

Make sure that you consult the RDBMS vendor documentation for installation requirements and platform/operating system compatibility for server and client installations. The following table describes the RDBMS drivers required on different servers for Business Analytics to run successfully.

Vertica version	Configuration		Comments
7.1.1	Single		For Proof-Of-Concept only. No other information such as
7.1.2-4			benchmark
	Cluster	With Load Balancing	Full coverage and benchmark
		Without Load Balancing	

Application Servers

The hardware requirements for the various IT Business Analytics components depend on the number of data sources you want to use and on the number of users who will use the application. They also depend on your server configuration. For details, see "Performance and Sizing" on page 25.

Web Servers

This version of IT Business AnalyticsExecutive Scorecard uses an Apache web server.

The following supported web server is required to run this version of IT Business Analytics: Tomcat 6.

Web Browsers and Plug-ins

Make sure that you consult the software vendor documentation for installation requirements and platform/operating system compatibility for server and client installations. The following table describes the software required for users to access the IT Business Analytics application successfully.

Product	Comments		
Adobe Flash Player 17.0.0.134 and higher	Enables users to view dashboards. Free download available from the Adobe web site: www.adobe.com		
Adobe® Reader® version 9 and above	Enables users to read the documentation in PDF format.		
Browser	Internet Explorer: Only non-compatibility mode is supported for IE11, IE10, and IE9. If your browner is not to competibility mode, make ours that:		
	If your browser is set to compatibility mode, make sure that:		
	IE11. The ITBA URL (or pattern) is not listed in the compatibility view list.		
	 IE10. The ITBA URL (or pattern) is not listed in the compatibility view list and: 		
	 In IE10, click Alt, select Tools > Compatibility View settings. 		
	ii. Make sure that all the options are unchecked: Display Intranet sites in Compatibility View, Display all websites in Compatibility View, and Download updated compatibility lists from Microsoft.		
	Chrome:		
	 Chrome 46.0.2490.x is supported with the following limitations: 		
	 In EXPLORER > Data Set, the Print, Snapshot, and Display SQL functions do not work. 		
	 In First Level Navigation (FLN), the Print and Snapshot functions do not work. 		
	 Chrome 42. is supported. Note that Chrome has disabled the standard way in which browsers support plugins, so in order to be able to use the print screen, dnapshot capture. and copy to clipboard features in Explorer, follow the procedure detailed in http://java.com/en/download/installed8.jsp Chrome 41.0.2272.101 is supported. 		
	 Chrome 41.0.2272.101 is supported. 		

Product	Comments
	Firefox: Firefox 37 and 24 are supported.
JRE (Java Runtime Environment)	Java 8 Update 40 (recommended)

Standalone Tool

No standalone tool is needed or available in this version.

No standalone tool is needed or available in this version.

Compatibility

This section provides information about software and configurations that are not required, but which are compatible with this version of IT Business Analytics.

Languages

The user interface of IT Business Analytics has been extended to support multiple languages. You can switch the language displayed in the application user interface by switching the Internet Browser language settings.

This version of IT Business Analytics:

Languages (in alphabetical order):	Runs on systems with the language:	Is localized in the language:
Brazilian Portuguese	V	V
Dutch	√	√
English (UK and US)	V	V
French	√	√
German	√	V
Italian	√	V
Japanese	√	V
Korean	√	V
Russian	√	√
Simplified Chinese	V	V
Turkish	Only UI and data insertion of Turkish are supported. Operating systems and locale in Turkish are not supported. In order to have Turkish-like locale, you can customize the OS locale to match the Turkish settings. Contact HPE Software Support Online Web site (https://softwaresupport.hpe.com/group/softwaresupport/home) for additional information.	√

Note: Using the English character set is always supported in addition to the character set in the local Operating System. For example, if you install ITBA in a Japanese environment, you can use the English character set as well as the Japanese character set.

Product documentation in Japanese will follow after the release. The following documents will be available in Japanese:

Document	Japanese
in the Business Analyst Guide PDF	yes

Internationalization Variances

This version of IT Business Analytics runs on all locales described in this document. There are no known variances.

Virtualization Products

This section describes the virtualization products supported by IT Business Analytics.

Transparent Technology and Virtualization Support

HPE supports IT Business Analytics running on operating systems and databases on particular platforms, not specific hardware and software configurations. HPE supports IT Business Analytics customers who run HPE software products on supported operating systems and databases, irrespective of whether they are running transparent or virtualization solutions in their environment. HPE does not support these transparent or virtualization technologies directly. Since the providers of these technologies support a set of certified operating systems and hardware, the customer and the providers of these technologies will be responsible for any interactions or issues that arise at the hardware or operating system layer as a result of their use.

HPE will not require customers to re-create and troubleshoot every issue in a non-transparent environment; however, HPE does reserve the right to request that its customers diagnose certain issues in a native certified operating system environment without the transparent technology. HPE will only make this request when there is reason to believe that the environment is a contributing factor to the reported issue.

While IT Business Analytics is expected to function properly with these transparent technologies in place, there may be performance implications, which can invalidate HPE's typical sizing and recommendations. Analysis must be performed within the context of the specific application to be hosted in a virtual environment to minimize potential resource overload, which can have significant impact on performance and scalability, particularly under peak load.

IT Business Analytics supports working with VMware HA and vMotion

Planned Downtime. Planned Downtime for local system maintenance is the number one cause of downtime in physical environments. IT organizations have to schedule maintenance windows long ahead of time at inconvenient times to minimize the business impact. **VMware vMotion** eliminates the need to schedule application downtime due to planned server maintenance through live migration of

virtual machines across servers with no disruption to users or loss of service.

Unplanned Downtime. Due to the complexity and cost of application-level clustering, only a minority of applications are typically protected with these solutions. In physical environments, that leaves the majority of applications with no protection against unplanned downtime. VMware provides a set of capabilities to provide simple and cost-effective availability for all applications running on vSphere. **VMware vSphere High Availability (HA)** provides cost effective, automated restart within minutes for all applications in the event of hardware or operating system failures.

For example, vMotion allows you to live migrate a VM from Host A to Host B without downtime. VMware HA provides high availability to VMs based on vMotion. For example, there are two hosts A and B in a cluster with HA enabled; If host A crashes, all VMs on that will be down too. In this case, VMware HA helps restart those VMs to Host B, so there is no service downtime.

HPE Vertica and VMWare

HPE Vertica runs in the following virtualization environment:

Host:

- VMware version 5.5
- The number of virtual machines per host did not exceed the number of physical processors
- CPU frequency scaling turned off at the host level and for each virtual machine
- VMware parameters for hugepages set at version. 5.5 defaults
- IO measured by vioperf concurrently on all Vertica nodes: *
- 25 megabytes per second per core of write
- 20+20 megabytes per second per core of rewrite
- 40 megabytes per second per core of read
- 150 seeks per second of latency (SkipRead)
- Thick provisioned disk, or pass-through-storage

Network:

- Dedicated 10G NIC for each Virtual Machine
- No oversubscription at the switch layer, verified with vnetperf

Processor:

- Architecture of Sandy Bridge (HP Gen8)
- 8 virtual cores per virtual machine
- No oversubscription, dedicated full processors
- vcpuperf time of no more than 12 seconds
- 12 seconds ~= 2.2 GHz clock speed

Memory:

- Pre-allocate and reserve memory for the VM
- 4G per virtual core of the virtual machines
- When running vioperf, provide the –duration=2min option and start on all nodes concurrently.

HPE has tested the configuration above. While other virtualization configurations may have been successfully deployed by customers in development environments, performance of these configurations may vary. If you choose to run HPE Vertica on a different virtualization configuration and experience an issue, the HPE VerticaSupport team may ask you to reproduce the issue using the configuration described above, or in a bare-metal environment, to aid in troubleshooting. Depending on the details of the case, the Support team may also ask you to enter a support ticket with your virtualization vendor.

High-Availability Products

This version of IT Business Analytics does not support any high-availability products.

Integrations and Coexistence

Information about HPE software that integrates with this version of IT Business Analytics can be found at the HPE Support web site. See http://support.openview.hp.com/sc/solutions/index.jsp#tab=tab3.

You can find the latest Support Matrix for this product that lists all software and hardware requirements at this location: HP Support matrices or at the HPE Software Support Online web site (https://softwaresupport.hp.com/group/softwaresupport/home).

Note: Most of the support areas require that you register as an HPE Passport user and sign in. Many also require an active support contract. To find more information about support access levels, go to Access levels.

Note that communication with data sources is done via IPv4 TCP/IP.

Supported Integrations with HPE Products

HPE IT Business Analytics is compatible with the following software products.

Product	Versions	Supported Databases
Application Lifecycle Management (ALM)	12.2 and 12.5 with ALM EXSC_00170 Hotfix and with ITBA 10.00 CP0004	All supported database servers
	12.0, 11.5, 11 SP2 (patch 12 and later)	
Asset Manager (AM)	9.50, 9.41 with ITBA 10.00 Content Pack 0003	Only sources based on Oracle DB & SQL-Server are supported.
Cloud Service	4.60 with ITBA 10.00 CP004	All supported database servers
Automation (CSA)	4.50 with CSA 4.50.0001 and ITBA 10.00 Content Pack 0001	
	4.2, 4.1, 4.0, 3.2 and 3.1	
Configuration Management System (CMS)	10.2 and 10.1 with ITBA 10.00 CP0004	CAC and non-CAC support
Virtual Performance View (vPV)	3.0 with ITBA Content Pack 0002	
Project and Portfolio	9.30, 9.20, 9.10, 8.00	All supported database servers

Product	Versions	Supported Databases	
Management (PPM)			
Server Automation (SA)	10.20, 10.1x with ITBA 10.00 Content Pack 0002	All supported database servers	
Service Manager (SM)	9.40 (SQL Server and Oracle are supported)	Supported databases are provided with each supported	
	9.30 (SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 are supported)	version	
	9.2x (SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 are supported)		
	7.11 (SQL Server, Oracle and DB2 are supported)		

Note: The Data Source Management UI does not display all the currently supported data source versions (the complete list is displayed above).

If you want to specify the latest supported version of your data source (according to the Support Matrix), use the highest supported version listed in the <Data Source version> field in the Data Source Wizard page for your specific data source.

Tip: The integration of ITBA with ALM is not supported while:

- ALM is using Common Access Card (CAC).
- ALM is using an external authentication access method.

Supported Integrations with Non-HPE Products

HPE IT Business Analytics is compatible with the following software products:

Product	Versions	Supported Databases
Amazon Web Services (AWS)	Amazon Web Services Note: Working with this data source requires a working Internet connection from the Data Warehouse machine.	All supported database servers
Amazon Web Service CloudWatch	Amazon Web Service CloudWatch	All supported database

Product	Versions	Supported Databases
(AWSCW)	Note: Working with this data source requires a working Internet connection from the Data Warehouse machine.	servers
Azure	with ITBA 10.00 CP0002	All supported database servers

Note: The Data Source Management UI does not display all the currently supported data source versions (the complete list is displayed above).

If you want to specify the latest supported version of your data source (according to the Support Matrix), use the highest supported version listed in the <Data Source version> field in the Data Source Wizard page for your specific data source.

Coexistence

IT Business Analytics and the HPE products that integrate with ITBA must be installed on separate servers.

Server / Client Compatibility

No compatibility information for older versions of IT Business Analytics clients or servers is available.

Performance and Sizing

Third-party components, such as databases and operating systems, are supported at the minor level, unless a different minimum level is specified. Future maintenance and patch releases (including fix packs or service packs) on the same minor release are expected to be supported, unless a conflict specific to that release arises.

ITBA is made up of various components, such as Data Warehouse and BA. SAP BusinessObjects Enterprise is optional.

Before Sizing your ITBA Product

Consider the below factors for sizing your ITBA product:

- 1. Number of concurrent users. The number of users currently logged in the system.
- 2. **Instances of data source.** The number of instances of data source you are going to activate in the ITBA application.
- 3. Source Data Volume. The source data volume determines the free disk requirement of the Vertica database. It is the size of the data that needs to be analyzed, not the total data volume of the data source. You can roughly estimate the free disk space of each node with the below formula:

Free disk space = 5 * [data volume of all source data]

Vertica recommendation is that the minimum free disk space is 1 TB each node. In most cases, 1 TB free disk in Vertica database is large enough for out-of-the-box data sources.

- 4. **Number of Vertica Nodes.** The ITBA application server does not support high availability, but Vertica does.
 - To use the high availability of Vertica database, it is recommended to setup the Vertica cluster with at least 3 nodes and set Ksafe=1.
 - If the data volume of all data sources is more than 200 GB, it is recommended to setup the
 Vertica cluster with 3 nodes.

Configurations and Sizing

You can install Business Analytics using one of the configurations explained below. Sizing information is available for each configuration.

Application Server Sizing

Server	ltem	Minimum Requirements (< 3 data source instances <= 50 concurrent users)	Recommended Requirements (>= 3 data source instances 50-300 concurrent users)
Business	RAM	12 GB	16 GB
Analytics Server	Free disk space	80 GB	150 GB
	Processor	4 Cores	8 Cores
	Required Ports	o ports: 10001 to 10010, 11020, 11021	
	∘ HTTP default port: 8080.		
 HTPPS default port 8443. 		3.	
		You can select non-default I during post install	HTTP and HTTPS ports

Note:

- The number of concurrent users is not limited to 300. If there are more than 300 concurrent users, the response time of some of the UI operations might be slower.
- During the installation, make sure there is enough free disk space for the application directory (/opt/OV), see above for details. No additional free disk space is needed for the installation path (/) and the data directory (/var/opt/OV).

Vertica Server Sizing

Single node Vertica cluster

Server	Item	Recommended (Source Data Volume<200 GB)	Extra (Source Data Volume>=200 GB)
Vertica Database Server	RAM	64 GB	96 GB
	Free disk space	1 TB	1 to 5 TB
	Processor	8 Cores	8 Cores
	Required Ports	Database default port: 5433	

o Three nodes Vertica cluster

Server	Item	Recommended (Source Data Volume<200GB)	Extra (Source Data Volume>=200GB)
Vertica Database Server (for each node)	RAM	64 GB	96 GB
	Free disk space	1 TB	1 to 5 TB
	Processor	8 Cores	8 Cores
	Required Ports	Database default port: 5433	

- When you evaluate the source data volume, take into consideration the future data growth. For example, if the current source data volume is 20 GB, and the data growth each year is 5 GB, over the next 3 years, the total source data volume will be about 20 + 5*3= 35 GB.
- ITBA provides a Vertica license with 1 TB raw data size restriction. For details about raw data size, see Vertica Administration Guide.

BOE Server Sizing

You need one additional separate BOE server if you need to connect to BOE for reports. In such a case, setup the BOE server with the following settings:

Application Server	Item	Minimum Requirements	Recommended Requirements
SAP® BusinessObjects Enterprise server	RAM	16 GB	16 GB
	Free disk space	80 GB	80 GB
	Processor	4 Cores	4 Cores
	Required Ports	Port for the Central Management Console (CMC) is 8080	
		 Port for the Central Management System (CMS) is 6400 and 6410 	

Performance Benchmark

The Performance Benchmark document provides a benchmark that characterizes the performance of this version of IT Business Analytics version. It provides contextual data regarding the data environment within which a specific functional workload is applied representing the benchmark workload. Test results for a benchmark run within HPE Performance Labs are provided for reference purposes.

For details, see the Performance Benchmark Document.

Obsolescence Plans

As of this release, there are no plans to end support for any currently supported version of IT Business Analytics.

Revision History

Date	Section	Description
June 2015	First Publication	
June 2015	Languages section	List of documents translated into Japanese was modified
July 2015	Operating System	Red Hat 6.6 is supported
November 2015		ITBA 10.00 CP0002 support
December 2015		ITBA 10.00 CP0003 support
January 2016	Performance and Sizing	Added information about the sizing for the application directory (/opt/OV), the installation path, and the data directory (/var/opt/OV).
January 2016	IPv4 support	
March 2016	CP0004	Integration with CMS
July 2016	Integrations and Coexistence	Change to supported version of Server Automation (SA)

Send documentation feedback

If you have comments about this document, you can contact the documentation team by email. If an email client is configured on this system, click the link above and an email window opens with the following information in the subject line:

Feedback on Support Matrix (IT Business Analytics 10.00)

Just add your feedback to the email and click send.

If no email client is available, copy the information above to a new message in a web mail client, and send your feedback to SW-Doc@hpe.com.

We appreciate your feedback!



